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For Betsy,


“Draw me after you and let us run together”


SONG OF SOLOMON I:4




PROLOGUE
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HOUSTON, WE HAVE A PROBLEM


NASA HILTON HOTEL


3000 NASA ROAD ONE


HOUSTON, TX


SATURDAY, 11 SEPTEMBER 2032


0100 HOURS, LOCAL


Only six of the sixteen expected to live. The other ten, all volunteers, did not intend to survive the experience. That’s just one of the things that make them different from us.


Two of them, aboard the Venezuelan tanker moored at the Exxon Mobil facility in Baytown, died precisely at one in the morning when their suicide bombs detonated and ignited the ship’s cargo of benzene. Nine unwitting crewmen aboard the vessel and twenty-three refinery workers ashore were killed in the conflagration.


Thirty seconds later, two others perished in a ball of fire when their sixty-ton truckload of ammonium nitrate fertilizer mixed with diesel fuel exploded as planned on the East Loop bridge over the Buffalo Bayou–Houston Ship Channel. Seventeen motorists in eleven cars also died in the explosion or when their vehicles plunged into the water, more than 130 feet below.


The four who disembarked from two cabs in front of the Hilton NASA hotel at three minutes after one all anticipated dying within the hour. Though it actually took longer, they did succeed in taking seventy-nine innocent guests, eleven hotel workers, thirteen Houston police officers, and eleven fire and rescue personnel with them. Among those killed were twenty-one women and fifteen children; six of them, babies in their mothers’ arms.


*  *  *  *


When gunfire and grenades erupted in the lobby, the three men, who had checked into the hotel as guests on Monday, immediately set the “e-cell” microcircuit timers on the explosive charges they previously planted in their rooms on the second, fifth, and seventh floors, then headed for the stairwells and raced to the penthouse level. Dressed in gray slacks and blue blazers with matching lapel pins, they arrived at the twelfth-floor Presidential Suite just seconds after the hotel emergency alarm began.


As he saw them coming, the identically attired security guard, an off-duty Houston patrol officer posted at the front door of the suite, reached for the phone on the desk instead of reaching for his weapon. It was his last fatal error.


The first of three silenced .25-cal bullets hit him in the chest, instantly reminding him of another deadly mistake: before going on duty at midnight, he decided the heat and humidity were too high for wearing his police-issue ballistic protective vest.


The shooter bent over the inert body, pulled the dead security guard’s police credentials out of his wallet, glanced at the name, picked up the desk phone, and dialed 71201. When the phone was answered he said, “Sir, this is Officer Vargas at the security desk. There is an emergency in the hotel and we need to get you out of here, quickly. Please put on some clothes. We’ll be waiting at your door.”


As his two colleagues prepared to drag the security officer’s body down the hall to dump it into a housekeeping closet, the shooter removed the dead man’s badge, weapon, and holster and fastened them to his belt. Finally, he grabbed the policeman’s Personal Interface Device—a clear plastic membrane, less than a millimeter thick, about twice the size of an old-fashioned credit card. Using the dead man’s thumb and forefinger, he pinched the thin ceramic strip along the edge of the card and a piezo-actuator instantly illuminated the screen to the downloadable media the officer was watching an instant before the first bullet struck.


From the card came the voice of an announcer, covering the highlights of the afternoon’s college football games. “Vargas” grunted, deactivated the fingerprint security option, pinched the ceramic switch to mute the device, and shoved it into his trousers pocket. All three men were arrayed like statues, facing outward when the door behind them opened and the occupant of the Presidential Suite shouted over the din of the emergency alarm, “I’m ready. Where are we going?”


The shooter turned and said, “We cannot use the elevators. We must use the emergency exit fire escape. There is apparently some kind of altercation going on downstairs. We need to get you out of here.”


The tall, thin man in the doorway, clad in a lightweight exercise suit and running shoes, didn’t look his age—seventy-seven. He held a flat leather case in one hand and a small gym bag in the other. Neither his eyes nor his short, gray hair offered any sign of whether he had been asleep or awake when the alarm started less than four minutes earlier. Over the incessant Klaxon he said, “Perhaps we had better call in to the duty officer at the NASA conference center before we leave.”


“No time!” shouted the shooter. “There is a fire and gunshots from the front of the hotel. We’re going down the south side, toward the marina. We have to get out of here to safety.” With that he gestured to follow him, turned, and headed down the hallway toward the illuminated exit sign.


The four men raced down eleven flights of stairs, the older man following “Officer Vargas” and one of the “security guards.” As they neared the ground floor, the stairwell filled with thick, acrid smoke and other frightened guests, all fleeing some unspeakable horror. Several women were weeping and children were wailing as they stumbled down the stairs.


When the crowd of refugees burst out of the building onto the deck above the marina, “Vargas,” now brandishing a badge in one hand and an automatic pistol in the other, yelled, “Follow me!” and headed east toward the finger piers and boat slips, past knots of frightened guests huddled with nowhere to go. Outside, with the interior alarms muted by the walls of the structure, the sound of gunfire and explosions seemed dangerously close.


As the four men hastened past the hotel restaurant toward the stairs to the dock, there were screams and a sudden burst of gunfire from inside. An instant later, an armed man wearing a black jumpsuit burst out a door in front of them and nearly bumped into “Officer Vargas.”


The gunman looked stunned, lowered his weapon, and said what sounded to the older man like “Ahmad . . .” Without hesitating a second, “Vargas” pointed his pistol at the man’s head and pulled the trigger. The old man recoiled in horror and said, “What the . . .”


“Vargas” spun, grabbed the old man’s warm-up jacket, and snarled, “Come, now, to that boat,” and pointed with his weapon to the end of the main dock. There a long, low, dark-hulled craft with a blue flashing strobe on its foredeck was idling.


When their “protectee” seemed to hesitate, the other two “security guards” in blue blazers came up on either side of the old man and took his arms as if to assist him. Traumatized guests, some prone on the deck, others peering from behind tables outside the restaurant, watched as they hustled the man in the warm-up suit out to the pier and then into the cockpit of the dark-hulled boat.


Once aboard, things suddenly changed. The man who called himself “Vargas” shouted to the two visible crewmen waiting in the cockpit, “Take him below! Go! Now! Hurry!”


The man at the helm immediately shut off the flashing blue light and pushed the throttles forward to their blocks. The two water-cooled, turbocharged racing engines spun up with a roar and the boat leapt forward. In seconds the black, Kevlar-reinforced, fiberglass hull was racing east without lights across Clear Lake at better than 25 knots.


Below, in the tapered, low-ceiling cabin, the two “security guards” and a third man he hadn’t seen before ripped the leather case and the gym bag from the old man’s hands, pinned his arms behind his back, snapped handcuffs on his wrists and ankles, and pushed him onto a narrow bunk.


Just before they covered his mouth with duct tape, he asked, “Who are you? Where are you taking me?” He received no answer. Instead his “protectors”-turned-captors proceeded to wrap his entire body in heavy aluminum foil and then duct-taped him to a long board they shoved beneath him. Completely immobilized, he stopped struggling and was only somewhat relieved when one of them poked two holes in the foil beneath his nostrils. Less than fifteen minutes had elapsed since he picked up the phone and heard “Officer Vargas” tell him there was “an emergency” in the hotel.


WHITE HOUSE SITUATION ROOM


1600 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE


WASHINGTON, DC


SATURDAY, 11 SEPTEMBER 2032


0227 HOURS, LOCAL


If twenty-one years—five of them as senior watch officer—in the White House Situation Room had taught Ben Carver anything, it was that the “red phone” never chirped with good news at this hour of the morning. He adjusted his headset, made sure the lip mike was in front of his mouth, and glanced at the “DNI” icon flashing red on the flat plastic panel on his console serving as his computer screen.


He touched the plastic pane and said into the mouthpiece, “Sit Room, Carver.”


“Ben, Bill Vincent, DNI SWO.”


“Go ahead, Bill,” Carver replied.


“We have multiple ongoing events in Houston. Looks like a vessel moored at the Exxon Mobile Baytown facility blew up, damaging the Fred Hartman Bridge. There was also a very large explosion on the East Loop I-610 bridge, which may have brought down a span. There is also an ongoing Houston PD and Texas DPS police action with an apparent hostage/barricade situation near the Johnson NASA Space Center. We don’t know if these events are related—”


“Any imagery up?” interrupted Carver.


“Yeah,” Vincent replied. “A Global Hawk border surveillance UAV out of Dyess Air Force Base picked up the infrared flares from the explosions. We’re up with DHS and have reprogrammed the bird for Houston. It should be overhead in ten minutes or so. I’m sending you the Houston TranStar traffic camera grabs of both detonations and a live feed of the ongoing effects. The Coast Guard is transmitting IR from one of their Galveston Bay aerostats and they are getting ready to launch a helo with a FLIR pod. We also have a download from the security cams at the Space Center, but they don’t show much, just a lot of police activity—the usual flashing lights on the highway. We’re picking up lots of chatter on social media about casualties.”


Carver reached to touch the plastic screen, bringing up the imagery, and asked, “Are there any threat-warns or foreign indicators? Anybody claiming credit?”


“Nothing new,” Vincent responded. “Last year, leading up to the thirtieth anniversary of the 9-11-01 attack, we had lots of ‘threat-warn’ and of course, nothing happened. This year all we’re seeing and hearing is the usual anti-American garbage from south of the border and typical ‘Anark’ right-wing trash talk up on ‘Radio-Free Montana,’” Vincent responded. “We aren’t picking up anybody overseas mentioning a specific attack, nobody here calling home, as it were—but as you know, the jihadis have been very quiet lately.”


“What is Houston Emergency Management Center telling DHS? Do they think it is domestic, international, or just three coincidental events?” Carver asked.


“Hard to tell,” Vincent responded. “The folks at HEMC have their hands full right now. We’re monitoring all of their encrypted comms and they don’t seem to know who or what is responsible. There are apparently lots of casualties from the two explosions and whatever is going on across the street from the Johnson Space Center. Just between you and me, we are tapped into the hotel’s internal security cameras and there are a lot of bodies.”


Carver simply grunted at the DNI watch officer’s admission that they were monitoring and recording a private security/surveillance system without a warrant. Turning to another screen, he glanced down a checklist and asked, “Any indications of radiological, biohazard, or hazmat release?”


“Air sensors say no to the first two,” responded Vincent. “There is a large petrochemical smoke plume drifting southeast on the offshore breeze from the Baytown fire. Houston EMC has alerted all first responders and will post a public warning once they get a better handle on things.”


Carver pondered this for a moment and asked, “If this is a 9-11 anniversary attack, why Houston? Is there any connection?”


“Not that we’re tracking,” Vincent answered. “According to the Houston PD they have a bunch of their off-duty cops doing security work for some kind of energy conference coming up at the Space Center, that’s about it.”


“Energy conference,” said Carver aloud, as he touched the electronic pad on his desk and brought up a calendar on a screen titled “2032 SIG EVENTS.” He scrolled to September and found:










    	11 SEP:


	
31st Anniversary Ceremony of 9-11-01 attacks.


0945–1045 POTUS Wreath-laying Ceremony, Pentagon


9-11-01 Memorial. POC: WH COS MUNEER MURAD








    	12–14 SEP:


	International Alternative Energy Conference, Johnson Space Center, Houston, TX.







    	12 SEP:


	
1130 EDT POTUS DEP S/LAWN ENR AAFB: MARINE 1


1200 EDT POTUS DEP AAFB: A/F 1


1510 CDT POTUS ARR EFD


1530 CDT POTUS DEP EFD ENR SPACE


 CTR: MARINE 1


1600–1800 POTUS Welcomes Conferees & Attends VIP Reception POC: WH COS MUNEER MURAD. PRESS CLEAR: USSS CRED.








	 


	VIPs Attending:







	 


	
U.S. Energy SEC Donald Colbert


UK Energy Min., Sir Reginald Smythe


OPEC Oil Min., Sheik Adnan bin Faisal


CAN Energy Sec., Donald Gregory


MEX Energy Min., Rafael Hernandez


RUS Energy Min., Viktor Lebed


PRC Energy Min., Xiong Guangkai


UN Energy Coordinator: Amb. Sun Lee [PRC]


Dr. Franklin Pfister: Cal Poly [US]


Dr. Martin Cohen: MIT [US]


Dr. Melvin Larsen: Copenhagen Royal Acad. [DEN]


Dr. Davis Long: Univ. of Calgary [CAN]


Dr. Steven Templeton: S. Alberta Inst. [CAN]


 Dr. Bern Vaclev: Petersburg Scientific Inst. [RUS]


Dr. Lu Weiying, Qinghua Univ. [PRC]


Dr. Shimizu Yoshiaki, Tokyo Inst. of Tech. [JPN]









Carver’s mouth was suddenly dry and he sat upright in his chair. With a flick of a finger on the desktop pad, he copied the file and sent it to the DNI watch officer. As he did so, Carver said, “Bill, I’m sending you our SIG Events file. Take a look at who is due in Houston tomorrow.”


The file, labeled “WHSR-SENSITIVE,” was transmitted instantly over the secure fiber-optic network connecting all of Washington’s government agencies—and every major U.S. military command. When the DNI senior watch officer looked at it, he sucked in his breath, as Carver continued: “All of these people must have PERTs. Check their ident codes and find them. Don’t bother with Energy Secretary Colbert, he’s here in town, I’m showing him on my succession locator and he is scheduled to accompany the president on Air Force One to Houston. See if any of the people listed are already in Houston. And if they are, stop the presses on the PDB. Let me know if I have to wake up POTUS.”


JENNINGS ISLAND CHANNEL


CLEAR LAKE, TX


SATURDAY, 11 SEPTEMBER 2032


0145 HOURS, LOCAL


It took the black-hulled speedboat less than thirty minutes to reach the narrow, winding Jennings Island channel at the east end of Clear Lake. At the helm in the cockpit, the pilot slowed the craft to a crawl and negotiated the passage by getting in line behind two other powerboats headed out on the tide. While the kidnappers wallowed in the wake of the craft in front of them, “Vargas” reached into his pocket, pulled out the PID he had removed from the police officer he killed in the hotel, pinched it to switch it on, and placed the plastic rectangle on the cockpit dashboard.


The man at the helm looked at the device and asked, “Why did you do that?”


The killer smiled and replied, “The authorities may be checking who we are. This will tell them we have one of their local police officers aboard.”


As the vessel made the final turn to pass beneath the power lines and the RFID panels beneath the Bayport Boulevard bridge, two very loud, nearly simultaneous explosions ashore lit up the horizon to the left and right of the bow.


The first, at the intersection of Bayport and East NASA, forty gallons of gasoline mixed with kerosene and accelerated by a canister of nitrous oxide, was detonated in the back of a rented SUV by a hand grenade. It spread flaming debris across all four lanes of traffic.


Seconds later, south of the bridge, six propane tanks, vented into a rented panel truck at the intersection of Bayport and Marina Bay Drive, were exploded by a cigarette lighter. In both cases, the perpetrators died instantly. So did nine innocent Americans who just happened to be in the wrong place at the wrong time.


As the black-hulled speedboat cleared the channel into Galveston Bay, it once again picked up speed. Fifteen minutes later it was off San Leon Point doing 45 knots through a light chop and an outgoing tide. By two thirty they were abreast of the breakwater north of Pelican Island.


To avoid being challenged by the Coast Guard’s Vessel Traffic Center, they kept their speed down transiting the sea-lane south of Port Bolivar, but once they were abreast of the sea buoy, “Vargas” told the pilot, “Faster.” As the man at the helm pushed the throttles all the way forward and headed due south into the Gulf of Mexico, the killer flipped the dead police officer’s PID over the side. In the tiny cabin belowdecks, all but the man wrapped in foil began to retch as the boat pounded through the swells.


An hour before sunrise, the speedboat pulled alongside a rusty coastal tanker, the Ileana Rosario, seventy-five miles south of U.S. territorial waters. A cargo net lowered from the deck of the larger vessel sufficed to transfer their aluminum-foil-wrapped cargo while five of the six men scrambled up a rope ladder lowered over the side—glad to be on anything larger than the black boat.


After the others departed, “Officer Vargas,” flashlight in hand, went through the boat, looking for anything they might have left behind. Satisfied the craft was “clean,” he reached into the bilge, twisted a large valve, then hurried back on deck and up the rope ladder as seawater flooded the small vessel.


As the rust bucket churned away to the southeast, the black hull sank in a thousand feet of water. By dawn, the only evidence remaining of the rendezvous at sea was a thin layer of high-octane gasoline seeping from the speedboat’s fuel tanks as they were crushed by water pressure. The rising sun quickly evaporated the colorful film.


WHITE HOUSE SITUATION ROOM


1600 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE


WASHINGTON, DC


SATURDAY, 11 SEPTEMBER 2032


0610 HOURS, LOCAL


Houston Emergency Management Center is reporting that the hotel is now secure,” said Bill Vincent over the encrypted, secure video link. In the Sit Room, Ben Carver simply nodded. Seated beside him was General John Smith, the National Security Advisor. Smith arrived at the WHSR at 0233 from his apartment at the Army and Navy Club on Seventeenth Street—just two blocks from the Northwest Gate at the White House.


At 0300—after Carver’s rapid-fire briefing—Smith called the president over the White House internal secure voice circuit. Then, at 0307, he ordered “Gateway”—the National Security Videoconference Network—activated and called for updates at the top of every hour. This was their third update.


The Gateway network is officially described in U.S. government budget documents as “a contractor-provided and serviced, encrypted fiber-optic system to provide continuous, uninterrupted secure communications in the event of a national emergency.” It was originally constructed in the aftermath of the 9-11-01 terror attacks when conventional telecommunications services were overwhelmed by the sheer volume of calls—and tens of thousands of sensitive voice and data messages were intercepted by foreign intelligence services and hackers.


Gateway links the White House Situation Room to operations centers at the Directorate of National Intelligence, the National Counterterrorism Center, Central Intelligence Agency, the departments of State, Justice, Treasury, Defense, Energy, and Homeland Security, the FBI Operations Center, the National Military Command Center, the Federal Aviation Administration, and Northern Command headquarters at Peterson Air Force Base in Colorado.


The Gateway network can also link the WHSR directly via secure audio, video, and data to any U.S. military or diplomatic mission overseas with compatible encryption software and the appropriate satellite communications antenna. In this case, the Houston EMC was patched into the network through the DHS Ops Center. In accord with protocol, only senior watch officers speak on the Gateway SVT network when a “principal”—in this case, General Smith, the National Security Advisor—is “on the line.”


“Do we have any word on casualties?” Smith asked.


“No final tally yet, sir,” said the DHS SWO. “There appear to be more than one hundred dead and perhaps twice that number wounded. Most seem to be at the NASA Hilton. From what Houston EMC is saying, there were a lot of first responders killed and injured by three explosions about an hour after it all started. It will probably be an hour or more before we have a firm number.”


Smith continued with his questions: “Does anyone at DHS, DNI, NCTC, or NORTHCOM have any indications of radiological or biohazard release?”


A chorus of “No, sir.”


“Any claims of responsibility?” the National Security Advisor inquired.


“Not that we have received at DNI,” Vincent responded. “We have NSA up on the step, as is the NGA [National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency] at Fort Belvoir. No phone chatter and nothing we have picked up on the MESH. Now that the press services have picked up on it, there are a lot of MESH bloggers, social-network types, and hackers speculating and making accusations, but nobody taking credit.”


“FBI?”


“We have no traces of anything but people speculating on the phone and on the MESH about who may have done this. We have no fixes on any group, domestic or international, claiming responsibility or any organization that might be in the neighborhood and able to pull this off.”


Smith then asked, “Any confirmation that any of the VIPs from this upcoming energy conference were targeted? Have we located all of them?”


Silence. Then Vincent at DNI spoke up: “General, there are a lot of people on this network right now. This is a very sensitive issue, and I think you and I—or perhaps you and my boss need to talk ‘off-line’ about this one.”


“Hang it!” Smith exploded. “This isn’t time for playing games, Mr. Vincent. Everyone on this SVT has a ‘need to know.’ What have you got?”


Vincent clearly looked uncomfortable, but he shrugged and said, “Yes, sir. Shortly after we sent out the initial alert on this event, the White House Sit Room asked us to track down the principals attending the upcoming Alternative Energy Conference at the Space Center. As you are aware, sir, international treaties, a UN convention, and our own domestic law all prohibit us from using PERT data for surveillance on law-abiding citizens. Government agencies are restricted from using PERT info for anything except border clearance, immigration enforcement, and fugitive apprehension—”


Smith interrupted. “Look, Vincent, we all know how the system works—and that it can track specific individuals. We don’t need a seminar on international law or electronics at this hour of the morning. Get on with it.”


“Yes, sir,” the DNI watch officer continued. “We have determined that only two of the people listed on the conference agenda were already in Houston. Both of them arrived yesterday and both were apparently at the NASA Hilton when it was attacked. One of them, Dr. Franklin Pfister from California, an expert on solar power, appears to be dead in the hotel—along with his wife and ten-year-old daughter . . .”


The general was agitated and it showed. “What is this ‘apparently’ and ‘appears to be’ crap? Why are you hedging?”


“Because we don’t have DNA or even a visual confirmation yet from the DPS, Houston PD, or the FBI,” replied Vincent, bristling in return. “As you can see from the Houston PD vid-feeds and the press cameras outside the hotel, they are bringing a lot of dead bodies out of there. A temporary morgue has been set up across the street at the Space Center to confirm identities. But we know Dr. Pfister’s PERT is immobile in a corridor of the hotel’s fourth floor—as are his wife’s and daughter’s.”


Calmer, General Smith asked, “And who is the second VIP?”


“Sir, it is Dr. Martin Cohen, a physicist at MIT. He—”


“The Martin Cohen,” Smith interrupted. “The retired U.S. Navy admiral, Dr. Martin Cohen, who has been working on a high-power fuel cell?”


“Yes, sir. He checked into the hotel yesterday afternoon,” said Vincent. “His PERT data confirms he was in the hotel when the attack occurred, and according to the Houston EMC he had a PSD of off-duty officers from the Houston PD and the Texas DPS.”


“DPS?”


“Texas Department of Public Safety.”


“Well, is Dr. Cohen alive? Is he okay?” Smith asked.


“We don’t know.”


“What do you mean you don’t know?” demanded Smith. “What do his PERT life signs show?”


“Sir, his PERT signal stopped transmitting—or at least we stopped receiving his PERT geolocation and biometric data—at 0114 CST this morning,” Vincent replied. “His PERT transponder may have been damaged or destroyed in the attack. He may have been wounded during the attack and transported to a hospital, or he could be one of the deceased inside the hotel not yet identified. It is also possible that he, ah, er . . . escaped.”


“What do you mean—escaped?”


“Well, again, sir, we’re on the edge of propriety here, but—”


“Vincent!” thundered Smith.


“Yes, sir.” The DNI SWO plunged on. “As soon as we were aware of the attack, we tapped into the hotel security camera system and scooped up all previously recorded and real-time video imagery. We’re having our experts examine the imagery now, but it appears that shortly after the attack began, Dr. Cohen’s PSD may have escorted him out of the hotel via a fire escape—”


“Good. So where are they—and more specifically, where is Dr. Cohen—now?” Smith interjected.


Vincent swallowed and said, “We don’t know, sir.”


Smith shook his head. Rising from the chair beside Carver’s, he said, “Send me all the imagery you have of Dr. Cohen at the hotel. Contact the Houston PD and the Texas DPS to find out where their off-duty officers are and tell them to let us know ASAP what they learn about Cohen’s whereabouts and condition. Have your boss call me in my office.”


CENTURION SOLUTIONS GROUP OPERATIONS CENTER


22570 RANDOLPH ROAD


DULLES, VA


SATURDAY, 11 SEPTEMBER 2032


0630 HOURS, LOCAL


Located 1.2 miles from the end of Washington Dulles International Airport’s Runway 1-Left, the Centurion Solutions Group (CSG) Operations Center is a sixty-thousand-foot, windowless, two-story, gray concrete-slab building, surrounded by a sixteen-foot-high chain-link fence. The entire structure is “TEMPEST hardened” with copper foil lining to prevent the “leaking” of all but intentional electronic emissions from the building. There is no corporate “signage,” only the street number—22570—mounted high on the wall facing Randolph Road.


From the street, no doors, windows, or vehicles are visible—only an apparently unmanned security-guard station and a heavy rollback vehicle gate. A dozen high-resolution cameras mounted on the roof and atop tall “mushroom cap” poles cover every inch of the building exterior and the surrounding perimeter. Parking and building access are in the rear, out of sight to passersby unless they are willing to “break brush” east from Lockridge Road to approach the facility. There is no mailbox. Visitors are rare.


On the recessed roof of the building are seven satellite dishes pointed skyward at various angles and direction, four 200-kilowatt diesel generators, eight water-cooled air-conditioning units, and an array of radio and microwave antennas. None of this is visible from street level.


The interior of the building is divided into four functional areas. The communications center—lined with racks of electronic equipment, computer servers, fiber-optic switches, telephone circuits, radio receivers, and relays—occupies nearly the entire top floor. The ground level has twelve offices and a theater-style conference room with 150 seats. Forty feet below ground level is the CSG Operations Center, where twenty-four 5’x8’ wall-mounted sheets of plastic, less than two millimeters thick, serve as flat-panel holographic screens for the eleven watch officers standing duty in the temperature- and humidity-controlled environment. There are no wires or electric sockets inside the facility. All lighting and electronic devices within the structure are powered by electromagnetic resonance coils that distribute electrical energy wirelessly throughout the building.


Icons on fourteen of the screens display geographic identifiers for every major U.S. government installation and military unit around the globe. Five screens provide details on the locations and assignments of CSG’s 5,327 employees, 41 offices and “training sites,” 65 “Centurion Aviation” aircraft, 7 ships, and 2,541 “independent security contractors” deployed around the world. One screen, in the center of the west wall, is a Mercator projection of the earth showing day/night, time zones around the globe, the tracks of debris from the original International Space Station, and all 779 operational and disabled satellites in geosynchronous and rotating earth orbit. Like all the other active screens in the room, it is labeled TOP SECRET/NOFORN. Only the four screens baring the CSG logo are labeled UNCLASSIFIED.


In accord with a classified contract with the White House Communications Agency (WHCA), CSG maintains and monitors “Gateway,” the encrypted, secure video-teleconference (SVT) link connecting the principal departments and agencies of the executive branch of the U.S. government. Another of CSG’s many government contracts requires the company to “operate and retain in a state of constant readiness, no less than five robust, remote operating sites capable of maintaining world-wide executive branch communications in the event of a ‘decapitation strike’ on the Seat of Government.”


*  *  *  *


When the National Security Advisor in the White House Situation Room ordered the Gateway SVT link opened at 0307 EDT, the communications watch officer in the CSG Ops Center manually activated the network by entering a password on his computer keyboard and pressing his right thumb against the “screen” for biometric validation. In less than a second, red lights flashed in a dozen U.S. government operations centers. Cameras and receivers were automatically activated in all of them as a computer-generated voice announced: “The White House Situation Room has initiated a secure video teleconference. Senior watch officers and principals only on this SVT. Please acknowledge.”


At the same instant, on the top floor of 22570 Randolph Road, an automated digital data file began recording and time-coding every image and word spoken. Two stories below in the CSG Ops Center, the four screens previously displaying nothing but the company logo now showed the faces of the National Security Advisor and the others on the teleconference in a split-screen array.


Whenever words were spoken in the link, voice recognition software in the computers on the top floor of 22570 Randolph Road digested every name and place mentioned, searching for “relevance” with other information stored in their data banks. When a correlation was found—as in the case of Dr. Franklin Pfister—the computer generated a message to the CSG senior watch officer:


Dr. Franklin Pfister: Cal Poly [US]: CSG PSD 31074 dur visit to Brazil, 17–26 Jan 2031. State Dept Contract ESS DV5852G76. No Sig events. No subsequent contact. Retrieve File? Y/N


Don Gabbard, Master Gunnery Sergeant, USMC (Ret.), the CSG senior watch officer, glanced at the entry and mentally noted that “CSG PSD 31074”—a CSG personal security detail, #74—had protected Dr. Pfister when he visited Brazil in January the previous year—all in accord with a State Department contract. Seeing no other information pop up other than open-source media reports about the alternative energy research he was conducting, Gabbard pointed a finger at the N on his computer screen and the entry disappeared.


But a few seconds later, immediately after Bill Vincent, the DNI SWO, mentioned Dr. Martin Cohen of MIT, a new computer-generated entry appeared on Gabbard’s screen:


*** ALERT ***


SWO ACTION REQUIRED


Dr. Martin Cohen: Prof. MIT [US]


Admiral, USN (Ret.)


Spouse: Julia


Daughters: Janice, Juliette


PROTECTED FILE


PERSONAL/PROFESSIONAL FRIEND OF CSG CHAIRMAN


NOTIFY CSG CHAIRMAN ASAP OF ANY SIG EVENT


Gabbard quickly scanned two hundred more lines of public-domain information about Dr. Cohen spewing from the computers two floors above. He noted that Dr. Cohen was a U.S. Naval Academy graduate, Class of 1978, a nuclear submarine officer, and an expert on propulsion systems, now teaching at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. There were several press and MESH blog squibs about Cohen’s experiments with fuel cell technology. Gabbard then scrolled back to the top and took a deep breath.


In his eleven years working in the CSG Ops Center—eight of them as a senior watch officer—Don Gabbard had seen the “notify CSG chairman” instruction pop up on his screen only once before. In 2025, when a preliminary DoD field report declared the CSG chairman’s son “MIA—Presumed Captured or Dead,” Gabbard delayed passing the information until after the Marine Corps made their official next-of-kin (NOK) notification. Though he and the chairman of CSG served together as Marines, the decision to postpone passing the information had nearly cost him his job. He wasn’t going to make the same mistake twice.


Gabbard slipped his headset on and as he reached to punch the red button on the console beside the plastic panel that served as his computer screen, he glanced at the digital clock on the pane: 06:33:17 EDT. He listened as the phone rang twice and heard the electronic “ping” as the automated voice encryption engaged. Then a voice he knew well said, “This is Peter Newman. Go ahead, Don.”




CHAPTER ONE
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DUTY CALLS


NARNIA FARM


1776 RIVER ROAD


BLUEMONT, VA


SATURDAY, 11 SEPTEMBER 2032


0634 HOURS, LOCAL


When the call came in from the CSG Ops Center, Major General Peter Newman, USMC (Ret.), was nearing the end of his morning ritual—twenty minutes on a NordicTrack elliptical exercise machine, twenty minutes of calisthenics and weights, and twenty more minutes on the elliptical. For a few seconds he listened to Don Gabbard’s verbal report over his PID’s wireless earpiece—then coasted the machine to a halt, dismounted, and walked across the room to a wall-mounted plastic panel displaying a digital photo of the Newman family assembled in front of a Christmas tree. The general touched the picture with his right index finger. Instantly the family photo disappeared, replaced by the live image of his former ops chief.


In the CSG Ops Center, Gabbard could now see and hear his former commander, the high-def sound and image transmitted by tiny visual and acoustic sensors invisibly embedded in the flat plastic panel. Perspiration was running down the general’s face.


“Thank you for the heads-up, Don,” said the general in his sweat-soaked T-shirt when Gabbard finished. “I can access Dr. Cohen’s file here. Keep me posted on what’s happening in Houston.”


“Aye, aye, sir,” Gabbard replied. He then asked, “Is there anyone else you want me to notify?”


“Not now,” Newman answered. “Keep an ear on the Gateway link and send me the feed right away if they find Dr. Cohen, ID the perpetrators, or if anything else happens somewhere else in the world on this awful anniversary. I will talk to James about this and one of us will get back to you once we see where this is going. Thank you, Don.” With that he pointed his PID at the screen and it instantly reverted to the family Christmas scene.


Newman walked to the door of the little gym, waved a hand at a wall-mounted sensor to shut off the lights, and tapped the miniature screen on his PID to lock the door as he strode toward the main house. The sun had already crested the Blue Ridge and the late summer day was becoming warm and humid. He stopped at the gate as the two Dobermans came trotting up to meet him. When they caught his scent—or recognized him by sight, he could never tell which—both dogs just turned and ambled back to the house.


As he reached the porch steps, he again used the PID to unlock the back door, then said to the device, “Call James.” In the invisible earpiece the general heard the ringtone twice and then a younger version of his own voice: “Good morning, Dad. Why aren’t you working out?”


“Good morning to you, James,” the general responded. “If it makes you feel any better, I just finished. What are you doing for breakfast?”


“Mmm, breakfast . . .” came the muffled response. In the background there were several thumps and then squeals. “If it makes any difference”—thump—“I just got back from a run”—thump—“and I am in the midst of a pillow fight with two boys who don’t want to get up and face the day”—thump. “They are saying something about it being Saturday and they need to sleep in.” Thump.


Despite the gravity of the news he had just received from Don Gabbard, the old general couldn’t help but smile as he listened to the mayhem occurring a mile up the mountain to the east. After a moment he said, “I don’t want to spoil the fun, but after you finish pummeling your pups and take a shower, come on down to the house and have a bowl of cereal with me. Something has come up.”


“I may have to bring some lounge hounds with me,” came the answer—and another thump. “Is seven fifteen soon enough?”


“Sure. Bring ’em along. We’ll put ’em on a punishment detail, cutting hay with dull scissors and mucking out every stall on the farm with dinner forks.”


*  *  *  *


Peter Newman and his wife, Rachel, simply called it “the farm.” But their children, James and Elizabeth, began calling it “Narnia” when they were still young—after they read C. S. Lewis’s Chronicles of Narnia. Every bedroom had a wardrobe. There was a lamppost—plenty of furry animals—even a stone lion. The Narnia name stuck.


Tucked into a fold of the Blue Ridge Mountains and bounded by the Shenandoah River to the west, the Appalachian Trail to the east, and hardwood forests north and south, the farm had been in Rachel’s family for generations. The original house, a log cabin, was built in the early 1790s by a veteran of the Revolutionary War.


When her mother died in the spring of 2002 and then her father later that same year, Rachel inherited all her parents’ property: Narnia, another farm near Charlottesville, and two “vacation” houses—one on Boot Key in Florida and another at Pawleys Island, South Carolina.


In 2008, after Peter was promoted to major general and assigned to the Marine Corps Combat Training Command at Quantico, Virginia, Rachel sold the places in Florida and Charlottesville. Her timing was impeccable. Just months after the sales closed, the real estate bubble burst and the American economy began a precipitous decline.


By the time the Great Recession hit hard, Rachel had renovated the old house at Narnia, turning it into a comfortable home for her family. She built a stable, where she kept four horses and boarded four more, started raising organic beef for sale in local markets, and planted a twelve-acre organic vegetable garden. Until the U.S. Food and Drug Administration banned the sale of “nonregistered food products,” she was well on her way to keeping her vow of “making this place pay for itself.”


At Pawleys, Rachel invested much of her remaining inheritance to convert the beachfront cottage where she spent so many childhood summers into a year-round home on the north end of the barrier island. The children named it “Cair Paravel,” another of C. S. Lewis’s mythical places. Rachel said at the time she hoped Peter would retire from the Marines and they could live out their years in quiet contentment between Narnia in the Blue Ridge Mountains and Cair Paravel on the Atlantic Ocean. She got half her wish.


In May 2011, the Marines tried to make Peter Newman the Deputy Chief of Staff for Operations and Plans—and give him his third star. He was duly nominated for lieutenant general but the Senate Armed Services Committee refused to confirm the appointment. The Secretary of the Navy called him to give him the news. On 7 June 2011, at the age of fifty-five—exactly thirty-three years after he accepted his commission as a second lieutenant of Marines at the U.S. Naval Academy in Annapolis—Major General Peter Newman, USMC, “entered the retired lists.”


For nearly two years he puttered about between Pawleys Island and the farm, pretending to write his memoirs, painting shutters, fishing in “the creek” behind Cair Paravel, bird hunting in the Carolina low country—and occasionally heading out into the Gulf Stream for some “deepwater” game fish. At Narnia he planted and harvested crops, pruned the fruit trees, took cows to livestock sales, cut miles of oak fence boards and locust posts on their sawmill, and built run-in sheds for the horses using poplar boards from trees harvested and milled on the farm. He hunted the west slopes of the Blue Ridge, fished the Shenandoah, drove James and Elizabeth to sporting events—and drove Rachel crazy inspecting for “dust bunnies” under the furniture.


Friends urged him to run for political office. He turned them down, saying, “No thanks. I remember what happened to Oliver North when he tried that.”


Then, on the morning of 2 April 2013, an unusually damp, cold Tuesday, just minutes after Rachel told him, “Peter, you are going to drive me crazy if you don’t get on with something other than hanging around here!” he received a call from Henry Hodson, a federal judge in Richmond, Virginia.


In the 1990s, the Newmans and the Hodsons were neighbors in Falls Church, Virginia. Then, Henry was an up-and-coming assistant U.S. attorney and Peter was a major in the Marines. In the years since, Hodson went on to head the U.S. Marshals Service, then to an appointment on the federal bench while Newman conducted “special operations” in the Corps. They had a lot in common, stayed in touch, and occasionally hunted together. Both men were members of the National Rifle Association, until the organization was banned as an “illegal extremist entity” for advocating that American citizens violate the United Nations Treaties on Small Arms and Arms Trade by refusing to register privately owned firearms.


“Peter,” the judge said when Newman answered the phone, “I have a deal for you.”


“Oh, what’s that, your honor? Is this a belated April Fool’s joke? Can I cop a plea for a lighter sentence?”


“This is no joke,” Hodson answered. “As you probably know,” the judge continued, “in order to comply with the UN Convention on Small Arms Control and the International Arms Trade Treaty, Congress, in its infinite wisdom, has made it illegal for U.S. corporations to do any business outside the U.S. that involves the use of firearms.”


“How is that a ‘deal’ for me?”


“I’m getting to that,” Hodson said affably. “And General, just in case no one has ever told you before, patience is not your strong suit. That’s why you’re such a lousy turkey hunter.”


Peter smiled and replied, “Okay, your honor, I’m listening.”


Hodson continued, “I’ve just been handed the Chapter Eleven bankruptcy cases for three of the private security companies put out of business by the new law—”


“I thought bankruptcies were handled by some administrative court. How come you have this kind of case? Did ‘Hang ’em High Henry’ get booted off the bench for cruelty to convicted felons?”


“Very funny, General,” said Hodson. “You are correct. Bankruptcies are normally handled by the U.S. Bankruptcy Court—right here in this same building. But there have been so many of them the last few years that all the judges in this circuit are taking them now. And besides, these three are special cases and I need to appoint someone as U.S. trustee who knows what he or she is doing.”


“And you want me to . . .”


Hodson finished the sentence: “Get off your big general’s butt, come down to Richmond, and get sworn in as the U.S. trustee for three of the biggest private armies on the planet. And do it before their heavily armed employees march on Washington.”


“I see,” replied Newman. “How long do I have to think about this?”


Suddenly completely serious, Hodson answered, “Peter, I’m imposing on our friendship—but I need your help with this one. Can you come to Richmond this afternoon?”


*  *  *  *


Three hours after hanging up the phone, Major General Peter Newman, USMC (Ret.), was in the chambers of Senior Judge Henry Hodson on East Main Street in Richmond, Virginia. Two days later, the retired Marine was appointed as U.S. trustee for the three security companies.


On Wednesday, 1 May, after twenty-seven days and nights of furious work, and countless meetings with the security companies’ owners, creditors, clients, lawyers, employees, and accountants, Newman filed a consolidated disclosure of assets and liabilities and presented his reorganization plan. It called for merging the three companies into a single entity, incorporated as Centurion Solutions Group.


Judge Hodson approved the plan with one caveat: the owners, clients, and creditors had to agree to have the retired Marine oversee compliance with the reorganization for the next twelve months. Newman and the other parties all agreed, but the arrangement didn’t last that long.


At a regularly scheduled meeting of the court-appointed Creditors’ Committee on Monday, 2 December 2013, the owners and creditors of the former companies unanimously nominated Newman to take over full-time management of the new, consolidated corporation. He talked it over, first with Rachel and then with Judge Hodson. Both urged Peter to take the job. Two weeks later Peter Newman became the chairman and chief executive officer of Centurion Solutions Group, Inc.


By 2018, the year James Newman graduated from the Naval Academy, CSG had contracts to provide a menu of telecommunications, logistics, security, intelligence, and “quick response” support for seven U.S. government departments and agencies and fifteen American corporations operating in the United States and overseas. The company also operated Centurion Aviation, a highly profitable, worldwide “air taxi” service that quietly advertised “terror-free flights to where you want to go.” CSG even had its own medical staff, disaster relief operations, and a “counterpiracy service” for international shipping.


Though the global economy was still sputtering in the midst of the Great Recession, CSG was quietly flourishing. Despite new laws forbidding American citizens or the foreign employees/contractors of U.S.-owned companies from carrying or using firearms overseas, CSG’s “security and protective services” continued to grow and prosper.


How Peter Newman managed to pull this off was a constant source of frustration to the media. Press reports and left-leaning MESH bloggers repeatedly referred to him as a “mercenary” and called CSG employees and contractors “hired guns.” Centurion Aviation was routinely castigated for “profiling” their passengers instead of subjecting them to U.S.-government-approved, FAA-certified “biometric validation,” full-body scans, and pat-down searches.


During a rare interview in 2022, the general was asked, “How can your CSG company manage to defy the laws of economic gravity without breaking other laws?”


Newman attributed the company’s success to “being blessed with the ability to discern what needs to be done, then finding the right people to do it faster, better, and at lower cost than anyone else.”


What Newman didn’t say was that he personally ensured that all CSG employees—including those running Centurion Aviation—were former military, CIA, FBI, Secret Service, or DEA personnel with top secret clearances. By the time James left the Marines in 2026 and joined CSG as chief operations officer, the company had grown to nearly 2,500 full-time employees, along with nearly 6,000 contract personnel, and was billing more than $2.9 billion a year.


*  *  *  *


James and two of his four boys arrived for breakfast at the stroke of seven fifteen. They raced down the hill from their house on mountain bikes and came charging up the back porch, past the two bewildered Dobermans.


“Halt! Who goes there?” shouted Peter Newman as they burst into the kitchen, out of breath.


The twelve-year-old replied first: “Lance Corporal Seth Newman, reporting as ordered, sir!”


Then, from the boy two and a half years younger and a foot shorter, “Private First Class Joshua Newman, reporting as ordered, sir!”


“Very well. Advance and be recognized,” replied the old general with a smile and a wink at James, standing behind them at the doorway. Then, after hugging them all, he said, “Who’s ready for chow?”


As they scrambled for their seats, Rachel came down the stairs and said, “Not so fast! Aren’t the troops going to wash their hands first?”


While the boys went to the kitchen sink to do their duty, Rachel poured fresh-squeezed orange juice into glasses and set five places at the old oak table she bought years before at a foreclosure auction. When they took their seats, they joined hands around the table and bowed their heads while Peter said a quick thanksgiving for the food, a habit from his days at “Canoe U”—when midshipmen were still allowed to pray on government property.


From a glass jar on the table, Rachel spooned into their bowls healthy portions of her homemade granola—produced from oats, wheat, corn, and honey from the farm—and covered the cereal with fresh Narnia strawberries. As the boys added cold milk from a stoneware pitcher, Peter poured cups of steaming hot coffee for the three adults.


During their meal, they chatted about the pains of “never-ending homeschool homework” and the pleasures of a lazy Saturday. When they finished, Peter said, “You know, I saw some really big bass in the pond below the barn. Why don’t you guys grab your fishing poles and see what you can do about catching us some dinner.”


Both boys were ready to go in an instant—but only after asking “Nan,” their name for their grandmother, “May we please be excused?”


Rachel looked at the clock on the wall, shook her head, and said, “Fifteen minutes, elapsed time; pretty quick breakfast.” But then she smiled and said, “Certainly, gentlemen.” And in a flash they were gone.


As the boys bounded off the porch, James turned to his father and said, “When you called, you said something had come up.”


Peter asked, “Have you seen the news this morning?”


“Only what has come over this, from our Ops Center,” James responded, holding up his PID. “It’s a lot more accurate than the media reports.” He continued, “I’ve already checked. All CSG sites and personnel have been alerted. We don’t have any active PSDs in Houston. Why did the Ops Center contact you about Dr. Cohen? He’s not one of our protectees.”


The old general sighed and said, looking at his son, “Marty Cohen was my roommate at the Academy. If it weren’t for him—”


“Yeah, I know, Dad,” interrupted James. “I grew up on the stories about how you and Mack Caperton, your other roommate, wouldn’t have passed physics or thermodynamics . . . might not have gotten through the Boat School . . . and how Marty Cohen was number one in your class and how he dragged you guys on his back all the way to graduation . . .”


“Well, he did,” Peter responded quietly.


The son grimaced at the father. “Dad, are you forgetting I went there, too? I know all about how Marty Cohen went on to four stars as a nuclear submariner. But you were in the top third of your class. So was Mack Caperton. You became a major general in the Marines. Caperton went on to become a SEAL and a U.S. senator. Cut yourself some slack . . .”


“James!” said Rachel, who had stopped picking up the breakfast detritus. “Your father and Marty Cohen are friends. Julia Cohen and I are friends. Marty is missing! I was on the phone with Julia just before coming down to breakfast. He was in Houston during the attack. He’s now missing. She is beside herself . . .”


Her eyes welled up with tears and she sat down beside her husband. Peter put his arm around her, turned to his son, and said, “James, I know we all had other plans for the rest of the weekend and next week, but I need your help with this.”


The son was silent for a long moment, looking at his parents. Then he leaned forward and said quietly, “Okay, Dad. I think I know a little bit about what a person will do for a friend. I’ll get on this right away. When Seth and Josh come back from fishing, tell them I’ve gone up to the office.”


James rose, patted his father on the shoulder, went outside, got on his bike, and pedaled the half mile up the hill to the CSG office. Eight hours later, he was on his way to Dulles Airport for a scheduled commercial flight to Chicago and on to Calgary. He couldn’t take a company plane. Centurion Aviation was barred from using Canadian airports because it profiled passengers in violation of Canadian human rights laws.


TREATY ROOM, WHITE HOUSE RESIDENCE


1600 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE


WASHINGTON, DC


SATURDAY, 11 SEPTEMBER 2032


0800 HOURS, LOCAL


Ulysses S. Grant used this room on the east side of the White House second-story residence for cabinet meetings. President William McKinley employed the space for a ceremonial signing of the peace treaty ending the Spanish-American War. Since then it has been called simply the Treaty Room.


From the room’s full-length windows, the view across the Truman Balcony takes in the Ellipse and the Washington Monument. Most modern presidents have used the room as a study and for small, private, off-the-record meetings.


During the tenure of Presidents Lyndon Johnson and Richard Nixon, the Treaty Room was one of the few places inside the eighteen-acre White House complex where conversations were not monitored and recorded. The present occupant of the White House insisted on the same requirement. As the chief executive exploded in anger, General John Smith, the National Security Advisor, reflected on the wisdom of that decision.


“This is outrageous! A terror attack, fifty-one days before my reelection!” the president shouted, interrupting the briefing Smith and White House Chief of Staff Muneer Murad had come to deliver. “We had a deal! How the hell can he do this . . .”


“Madam President,” Murad interrupted. He was one of the few in her inner circle who dared do so. Before she could cut him off, the chief of staff pressed on: “As General Smith just said, we don’t know who did this. But what we do know is that it is too dangerous for you to go to Houston tomorrow and we need to cancel your attendance at the Pentagon 9-11 Memorial ceremony an hour and forty-five minutes from now. We also need time to take a careful look at your upcoming campaign appearances—”


“No!” she said emphatically. “I will not, I repeat not, be taken off the campaign trail by this. Now, you listen to me, both of you. I didn’t get to be the first woman president just to be driven out of office when I’m on the verge of being reelected. Use the Secret Service, the military, whatever you need, and make sure I can keep my campaign schedule.”


“But . . .” Murad tried to interrupt again.


“Shut up,” she snarled at her chief of staff. He complied.


Then, turning to her National Security Advisor, she continued, “John, you and M&M work out a statement I can insert into my remarks at the Pentagon. Since you just told me you don’t know who did this—blame it on ‘Anarks.’ This will give us a good reason to crack down on these crazies who breed like rabbits and won’t play by the new rules. Have the FBI go out and arrest a bunch of them. If the Attorney General squawks, tell him his job is on the line.” Both men nodded, sensing their jobs were as well.


“Now,” she continued, “is there anyone out there who is going to contradict us if we say the attack in Houston is the work of Anarks?”


“Well,” Smith began. “Even though no group has claimed credit yet, it is possible, I would say likely, that someone will. Though one or two of the perpetrators appear to be Hispanic, we won’t have any DNA tracking data from recovered remains for at least a few more hours. But you have to understand, the attacks in Houston have all the telltale fingerprints of an Islamic Jihad attack or one of its affiliates. There were at least three suicide bombers we know of, perhaps more—”


“Stop,” the president ordered. “First, for years I have been telling everyone my dear departed husband’s ‘Framework for Peace’ and my Mideast Peace Treaty solved the problem of radical Islamic terrorism. We’ve staked my reelection on the success of all the measures we have taken to make it a fact. I’ve told the voters that PERT technology has stopped illegal aliens and terrorists from getting into this country. They believe me. We’re not going to confuse people now with some new revelation. If some group makes such a claim, deny it.”


Smith nodded, but said nothing.


“Second,” she continued, “our ‘Revitalize America’ and ‘Better Deal for All’ economic plans are just about to pay off in getting unemployment below ten percent with good-paying government jobs. If people think we’re vulnerable again to Islamic terror attacks, or if the price of oil goes sky-high again, it will all go down the drain. Who would be able to contradict the idea that this is the work of a domestic, right-wing extremist, Anark fringe group?”


The general was silent for a beat and then said, “I would guess that most foreign governments and their intelligence services will follow our lead. Certainly, your cabinet officers will. Of course, we can’t control pirate broadcasts out of reach of the Communications Fairness Division of the FCC. And I suppose there is always the possibility of a leak from one of our contractors who do most of our domestic and foreign intelligence collection.”


“Okay,” the president said, “let’s stop talking about this. I have to get ready to leave for the Pentagon.” She paused for a moment and then addressed both men: “Put out the word that the attack in Houston appears to be an Anark operation, with ties to Mexican drug cartels and Jewish fanatics upset about our Mideast Peace Treaty. Anyone—contractor, broadcaster, MESH blogger, and whether it’s an individual or a group—who disputes that is subject to arrest under the Spreading Fear Statute and our anti-extremism hate-speech laws. This Supreme Court has upheld them both. That’s how we shut down the NRA. Now go.”


As the two men headed for the door, Murad’s stomach was churning. He despised the “M&M” nickname she inflicted upon him. And though he tried very hard to never let it show, his Arab heritage seethed at taking orders from a woman. As they exited, they both had PIDs in their hands, summoning deputies to meet them in their respective West Wing offices.


Just as they reached the top of the stairs to head down to the ground floor, the president stepped out of the Treaty Room into the Center Hall and said, “M&M, there’s one more thing.”


They both stopped and Murad replied, “Yes?”


“When I return from the Pentagon,” she said, looking directly at her chief of staff, “I want you to get your friend the Caliph on the secure line. If he has broken the pledge he made to me about no terror attacks until after the election, there is going to be hell to pay.”


Murad simply nodded and turned to go down the stairs.


That’s when Smith noticed the Secret Service agent posted beside the entry to the Treaty Room. She was wearing a dark blue two-piece pantsuit and standing immobile with her hands clasped “fig leaf” style. Their eyes met for an instant. There was no hint in her expression that she had even heard what the president just said.


That was, after all, her duty. That is why it’s called the “Secret Service.” But as Smith walked toward his office, the retired general made a note in his PID to find out her name.




CHAPTER TWO
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WANTED


MAPLE LEAF ROUTE 1, TRANS CANADA HIGHWAY


CALGARY, ALBERTA, CANADA


MONDAY, 13 SEPTEMBER 2032


1045 HOURS, LOCAL


James Newman knew he was a wanted man. He just didn’t know why.


The unmarked, dark blue sedan in the old Harley’s rearview mirrors had been behind him since he pulled out of the University of Calgary. It followed him on Twenty-Fourth Avenue as he headed east toward the southbound ramp of Crowchild Trail.


Newman punched the car’s license number and a “?” into the PID mounted on the motorcycle’s handlebars, hit SEND and less than five seconds later he had a four-letter answer: “RCMP”—the Royal Canadian Mounted Police. As he accelerated past the stadium at Foothills Athletic Park, he noticed a second, identical car joining the chase, fifty yards behind the first.


For an instant he considered making a break for it. Except for motorcycles and the big, twenty-four-wheel, Inter-American freight haulers and petro-tankers, the highway was almost devoid of traffic. The Harley Nightster’s 73.4-cubic-inch engine might be twenty years old, but Newman knew it could easily outrun any government hybrid.


Instead he throttled back, downshifted, thumbed his right-turn signal, and exited the four-lane highway on the Sixteenth Avenue ramp, following signs to the eastbound lanes of the Trans Canada Highway. With the two blue hybrid sedans trailing, he settled down to an easy speed-limit pace until he saw the sign SOUTHERN ALBERTA INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY, 1KM.


As Newman slowed to make the exit into the North Hill Shopping Center, adjacent to the engineering campus, the lead blue sedan suddenly flashed its lights, sped up, and pulled even with the black motorcycle. A loudspeaker beneath the hood blared, “Pull over, police.”


Newman obeyed, slowly coming to a stop in the nearly empty shopping center parking lot. With the Harley’s distinctive exhaust cut to a murmur, he touched a button on the handlebars and spoke into the microphone inside the motorcycle helmet: “Pulled over by RCMP. Plot my GPS location. Stay tuned for more. Out.”


As Newman unzipped the black leather flight jacket and removed his bright blue helmet, the lead car pulled in front of the bike, stopped abruptly, and all doors but the driver’s flew open. Three well-built men emerged, all identically attired: dark blue suits, light blue shirts buttoned to the collar, no tie. In the Harley’s rearview mirror he could see the second car, ten yards behind him—a camera lens visible inside the windshield.


“Good morning, James Stuart Newman,” said the oldest of the three as he approached the bike and rider, holding out his badge and credentials. “Senior Inspector Christopher Jackson, Royal Canadian Mounted Police. What’s your business in Canada?”


“Good morning yourself, Inspector,” replied Newman with a smile. “Aren’t you supposed to warn me of my rights first? Am I suspected of breaking any laws?”


“Ah, you’re a clever one, aren’t you, eh?” said the police officer, not smiling at all. “Just like in the Lower Forty-Eight, we’re required to record every stop and detention. So I have to tell you, for the benefit of the cameras, that you are not being apprehended or detained.”


“Then why did you pull me over?” asked Newman, still sitting astride the motorcycle, eyeing not only the inspector but his two colleagues, who stood with their coats unbuttoned, hands at their sides, about ten feet behind their superior. They were spread far enough apart so if they had to, they both could get a clear shot at the man on the Harley without hitting the inspector in front of him or the sedan behind him.


“Well, to be quite honest about it, Mr. Newman, I don’t quite know why you are of interest to my superiors in Ottawa—but I do know my provincial field office was directed to see to it that your business here is concluded and you depart Canada expeditiously. Apparently your PERT data is transmitting intermittently. According to our data you have an implanted PERT. Where is it?”


Newman held up his right foot and said, “Between my third and fourth toes.”


The RCMP officer pulled a scanner about the size of a TV remote from a holster on his belt, waved it over Newman’s raised foot, looked at the digital readout, shrugged, and said, “Looks like your PERT is working to me. You know it’s contrary to the North American Union Treaty and forbidden by laws in your country and mine to tamper with your PERT signal, right, Mr. Newman?”


“Of course,” the motorcycle rider replied. “So may I go now?”


“Well now, it depends on where you are going,” said the inspector. Then he added through a tight smile, “I’m trying to be pleasant about this, Mr. Newman. Please remember, we’re Canadians. We’re the nice North Americans. So where are you going, Mr. Newman?”


Newman looked at the policeman, shrugged, and said, “I’m headed back east to watch the trees change color.”


The officer was no longer smiling. He reached into his pocket, pulled out a PID, and said, “Let’s stop playing games, Mr. Newman.” The inspector touched the screen to activate the device and continued: “Your PERT informed us when you arrived Saturday night on Air Canada flight 5081 from Chicago—less than twelve hours after serious criminal activity took place in Houston, Texas. We know you stayed Saturday night and all day yesterday at the home of Professor Steven Templeton. We know at five thirty this morning, an unusually early time of day, you accompanied him to the university’s Applied Sciences Laboratory. Do you want more?” asked the policeman.


“Sure,” James replied with a shrug.


“Very well,” the Mountie continued, looking at the screen. “We know at eight fifty-five this morning you placed a call to Dr. Davis Long at the Southern Alberta Institute of Technology from Professor Templeton’s laboratory phone and talked for exactly six minutes and thirty-one seconds. We know the Harley Davidson Nightster motorcycle you are riding is registered to Stanley Templeton—the son of your professor friend. And now we want to know where you are heading. You know you can’t hide. How about it, eh? We’re going to track you anyway.”


“Who is ‘we,’ and why are ‘we’ so interested in where I am going, Inspector?” asked Newman.


“As far as you are concerned, I am ‘we,’ Mr. Newman, and ‘we’ are responsible for preserving law and order, enforcing international agreements, and protecting security in this province of Canada,” Jackson replied, his voice hardening.


When the man on the motorcycle said nothing in response, the inspector placed his hand over the wireless microphone embedded in the RCMP pin on the lapel of his suit coat and bent down so Newman’s head masked the camera mounted in the police car behind the motorcycle.


The inspector continued, barely above a whisper, “I was in Canadian Special Forces during the Shindand campaign in 2025—back when this country still had a military. I know what you did then. I don’t know why you’re in Canada now, but I do know you are in danger. From whom—or what—I don’t know. But you need to get out of here—quickly.”


Newman still said nothing and he tried hard to keep the surprise he felt from registering on his face. Finally, in frustration, the Mountie reached into his trousers pocket, withdrew an object, held it in front of the motorcyclist’s face, and said, “Now do you believe me?” Clutched between the policeman’s thumb and forefinger was a tiny metal fish.


“I have one of those, but that’s not in my PERT file,” said Newman, still wary.


“I know,” said Jackson. “Those of us who carry these are in a different database—at least for now.” As he put the little ichthys back in his pocket, he said, “You need to get out of here, do you understand me?”


“Okay. I’ll leave. But first I need to go next door to meet someone,” Newman said, gesturing toward the Southern Alberta Institute of Technology campus, across the Fourteenth Street expressway.


“Who?”


“Dr. Davis Long, in the engineering department,” Newman responded.


“Don’t bother. Professor Long is dead.”


“Dead?” Newman was visibly stunned. “How? When? I just talked to her less than two hours ago.”


The Canadian lawman, still covering the microphone on his lapel, said, “We know. Apparently she committed suicide by jumping off the roof a few minutes after you and Professor Templeton hung up the phone. Her body was found on the pavement of Fowler Drive. The death is being investigated by the campus and municipal police. They haven’t located anyone who saw her fall. Any idea why she might want to kill herself?”
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